

# The *Positive Action* family program: A pilot randomized trial and replication

Kendra M. Lewis<sup>1\*</sup>, Brian R. Flay<sup>2</sup>

1 University of California, Agriculture and Natural Resources, Davis, CA, USA 2 Oregon State University, OR, USA

### Abstract

**Background:** We report results from the first randomized trial of the *Positive Action (PA)* intensive family program. Eighteen families (parents and teens) were randomly assigned to receive the program, consisting of 7 weekly meetings, with parents and teens attending separate sessions for the first half of each session (90 minutes) and then attending a joint session for the second half (90 minutes). Eleven families (approximately one-third) were randomly assigned to a wait-listed control condition.

*Methods:* We surveyed all parents before the program and at immediate posttest with 16 items assessing family conflict ( $\alpha = .74$ ), family cohesion ( $\alpha = .79$ ), and parent-child bonding ( $\alpha = .75$ ). Data were also collected from additional parents who participated in two subsequent rounds of the program.

**Results:** Results suggest that the PA intensive family program had immediate positive effects on all three outcomes with effect sizes (Cohen's d) between 0.34 and 0.59. Significant interactions with pretest scores for cohesion indicated stronger effects for those families at highest risk among this high-risk sample. Data from subsequent pretest-posttest only groups replicated these results.

*Conclusions:* We conclude that this first randomized trial of the *Positive Action* intensive family program and the pretest-posttest replications provide results worthy of further follow-up.

**Citation:** Lewis KM, Flay BR (2017) The *Positive Action* family program: A pilot randomized trial and replication. Adv Pediatr Res 4:2. doi:10.12715/apr. 2017.4.2

Received: September 5, 2016; Accepted: January 5, 2017; Published: February 1, 2017

**Copyright:** © 2017 Lewis et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

**Competing interests:** The research described herein was conducted using the program, the training, and technical support of *Positive Action*, Inc. in which Brian Flay's spouse holds a significant financial interest. Issues regarding conflict of interest were reported to the relevant institutions and appropriately managed following the institutional guidelines.

Sources of funding: This work was supported, in part, by a U.S. Department of Education "Partnerships in Character Education" grant to the Uintah County School District.

\* Email: kmlewis@ucanr.edu

## Introduction

The effects of school-based prevention programs vary widely [1-3], suggesting a strong need for quality family programs enhance school-based program effects on youth development outcomes. However, the effects of family-based interventions also vary widely [4-6]. The best family programs involve all family members (children, adolescents, parents) in an engaging way and teach long-term skills for success and happiness [7, 8]. Additionally, effective prevention programs should seek to improve social skills, teach family management skills, increase the time parents spend with children, decrease family conflict, and provide positive role models for children [9]. Research has shown relative success of parent and family programs in research and real-world settings [7, 10-15]. Yet, a major limitation of many existing family programs concerns attendance --many high-risk families choose not to engage with preventive interventions. Even in carefully designed, well-funded family-focused preventive interventions,



typically less than 50% of targeted parents begin an intervention and complete it, partly because of stigma [16-21] or the lack of cultural adaptation to the targeted population [22].

Avoiding the stigma of implied deficient parenting can be accomplished by an intervention that is not presented primarily as a parenting program, but instead is presented as an adolescent health and wellness program that shows parents and teens techniques for helping adolescents avoid pitfalls such as substance use, deviant peers, unhealthy sex behaviors, and violence. In such a design, changes in parent and adolescent behavior related to monitoring, warmth, and problem solving are presented as a means to an end. The prime motivation for the parent is to help their adolescent avoid risks for negative outcomes. The Positive Action (PA) program is ideal for application of this no-stigma strategy because it emphasizes adolescent, rather than parent behaviors, although parents will also be changed by their involvement in the program. The program's "Family Kit" involves the parent interactively in activities that promote beneficial adolescent outcomes, and this family cooperation and learning can increase family functioning, bonding, and cohesion.

The PA approach relies on intrinsic rather than extrinsic motivation for developing and maintaining positive behavioral patterns. The PA program teaches the motivation and basic skills for achieving success and happiness for all family members. The program is based on the intuitive philosophy that you feel good about yourself when you do positive actions, and there is always a positive way to do everything. The universal premise is represented by the selfreinforcing "Thoughts-Actions-Feelings" Circle (Figure 1). It shows that positive thoughts lead to positive actions, positive actions lead to positive feelings about yourself, and positive feelings lead to more positive thoughts [23, 24].



Figure 1. The Thoughts-Action-Feelings (About Self) Circle

*PA* builds on the philosophy and circle with specific positive actions, or skills, for the physical, intellectual, social, and emotional areas (the whole self). They are taught through six focus units (Table 1). The philosophy and focus units align and unite the multiple program components designed to apply to all spectrums of people. The complete program includes components for *PreK-12 Instruction*, *School Climate Development*, *Counselors*, *Family Engagement*, and *Community Involvement*. They all work together as a seamless whole, in any combination, or effectively standalone.

*PA Prior Results.* We have previously reported on two randomized trials of the school-based program that have been conducted on the *PreK-12 Instruction* component. Results reveal that *PA* has an impact on a range of student outcomes, including problem behaviors [25-29], academics [26, 30], health behaviors [31], emotional health [32], and positive youth development indicators [29, 33, 34], well as school climate [35]. Further, a recent study tested the PreK component of *PA* and found improvement in children's skills and behaviors in all program domains [36]. Overall, these outcomes provide evidence of the effectiveness of the *PA* program. This study concerns only the family classes component.

Family Program Description. The PA Family Kit engages parents and adolescents in activities to promote beneficial teen outcomes. It is used by families at home and diverse groups working with families (e.g., case managers) to lead them to success and happiness as a family and as individuals. Parents or providers can use it to promote positive thoughts, actions, and feelings about self to their families. The kit contains a manual with multi-age, 15-minute lessons: six for each of six units and six for review. Colorful materials such as an ICU (I See You Doing Something Positive) Box, "Word of the Week" cards, Conflict Resolution Plans, games, posters, and songs make lessons interesting and memorable. The 15minute lessons easily fit into the schedules of busy families to bring PA concepts to the home and provide a link to school or another agency. They can teach lessons once a week or follow a different schedule set by the school or agency. Families should then set aside a time to use the PA lessons each week.



**Table 1.** Description of *Positive Action* Units for all components(PreK-12 Instruction, School Climate, Counselors, FamilyEngagement, and Community Involvement)

Unit 1	Philosophy and Thoughts-Actions-Feelings Circle						
	<ul> <li>Introduce <i>PA</i> intuitive philosophy and Thoughts-Actions-Feelings (about self) Circle</li> <li>Talk about differences between negative and positive actions</li> <li>Review self-concept and the role of self, peers, and family</li> </ul>						
Unit 2	Physical and Intellectual Positive Actions						
	<ul> <li>Identify physical positive actions (exercising, healthy eating, dental hygiene, getting enough sleep, etc.)</li> <li>Identify intellectual positive actions (making good decisions, being motivated to learn, problem solving, valuing learning, etc.)</li> </ul>						
Unit 3	Managing Yourself Using Social and Emotional Positive Actions						
	- Teach strategies for managing thoughts, actions, feelings, energy, etc.)						
Unit 4	Getting Along with Others Using Social and Emotional Positive Actions						
	- Teach children to treat others respectfully, cooperate, avoid bullying, and show appreciation, empathy, fairness, and kindness						
Unit 5	Being Honest with Yourself and Others Using Social and Emotional Positive Actions						
	<ul> <li>Describe the importance of telling the truth</li> <li>Define self-honesty</li> <li>Teach strategies for honesty and accepting responsibility for actions</li> </ul>						
Unit 6	Improving Yourself Continually Using Social and Emotional Positive Actions						
	<ul> <li>Help children set physical, intellectual, social and emotional goals</li> <li>Reinforce all <i>PA</i> concepts</li> </ul>						

The *PA Family Classes Instructor's Kit* is used with the *Family Kit* to teach family or parenting classes in seven sessions. It can be used for high-need, at-risk families, in court-mandated situations, or just to train families of a school or other group in positive family behavior. In the first session, families learn the Thoughts-Actions-Feelings Circle philosophy and in subsequent session they learn the basics of each of the other five *PA* units (Table 1). During the first half of each session, the parents, adolescents, and children have separate, concurrent classes with ageappropriate lessons that cover the same concepts. In the wrap-up portion of the session, all the groups come together to review the concepts and participate in an activity as whole families. This powerful tool allows families to apply what they have learned together and is designed to improve the relationships, communication, and dynamics of family life.

To hold Family Classes, sites start by choosing either the Intensive Model or the Extensive Model. The Intensive Model teaches the seven sessions over seven weeks, and is often used for at-risk or court-mandated families. The Extensive Model teaches the seven sessions over 36 weeks, often in alignment with a school's or other agency's regular PA curriculum. Once this decision is made, the site will go through several steps: review and understand the Family Classes Instructor's Kit; coordinate with other efforts in the community or with the school, identify and train three or four instructors, find families to take the classes through different sources and information sessions, plan class schedules and locate a facility with appropriate space, order all In-Class Family Materials and At-Home Family Kits and, finally, conduct sessions of the Family Classes. Here we report results from a randomized study of the Intensive Model. We hypothesize that families participating in the PA family program (PAFP) will report more positive family behavior.

## Methods

Participants. The program was piloted in a rural Western community. Twenty-nine families with children aged 12 to 15 years were court mandated to participate in the PA intensive family program as a result of the youth's repeated low-level offenses. With the agreement of the judge, we randomly assigned 29 families to the experimental group or wait-list control group in a 2:1 ratio (resulting in 18 families in the experimental group and 11 in the waitlist control). The wait-list control group received no parenting information or intervention during this time. Both groups completed a survey before the group sessions commenced and at the end of the family program (7 weeks). Two facilitators, who had received prior training from PA, provided the trainings and had conducted the sessions with three prior groups. No process evaluation data was collected.



*Later Replication.* Participating parents in subsequent, non-randomized PAFP (N of 45 and 96; also court-ordered) completed the same instruments at the start and end of their group sessions. It was hypothesized that these data would provide replication of the effects for the program group, thus suggesting robustness of the program effects.

Measures. Parent outcomes were measured with 16 items that contributed to three scales of family functioning developed for the Student Health and Risk Prevention (SHARP) survey, administered by the Utah State Office of Education, Department of Health, and Department of Human Services, Division of Substance Abuse and Mental Health. Reliability analyses were performed with 74 (29 from the pilot and 45 from the replication) parents<sup>1</sup>. Family conflict questions (3 items) asked parents how much they agree with statements about conflict in their family or how often conflict occurs (score range 1-4, alpha = .74). Parent-child bonding questions (6 items) asked parents how much they agree with statements about the quality of bonding between themselves and these children or how often bonding events occur (score range 1-7, alpha = .79). Family cohesion questions (7 items) asked parents how much they agree with statements about family cohesion in their family or how often cohesive events occur (score range 1-4, alpha = .75). Parent-child bonding questions (7 items) asked parents how much they agree with statements about the quality of bonding between themselves and these children or how often bonding events occur (score range 1-7, alpha = .79). See Table 2 for a copy of the items.

Data Analysis Procedures. Baseline comparability was tested with t-tests on the pretest scores. Primary analyses consisted of ANCOVA, with the posttest scores as the dependent variable, and condition as the independent variable, using the pretest scores as covariates. We first ran a model that included the interaction between pretest scores and condition to enter the model; when the interaction was not significant we re-ran the model without the interaction. Given the small Ns, the clear directional hypotheses, and that the practical consequences of finding negative results would be the same as finding no difference (essentially indicating that the program should not be used), we applied one-tailed tests [37].

**Table 2.** Positive Action Family Functioning Measures with scale

 reliability coefficients\*

Family Conflict ( $\alpha = .74$ ) 1. Family often yells and insults each other 2. Family has serious arguments 3. We argue about the same things over and over in my family Family Bonding ( $\alpha = .79$ ) 4. I'm available when others in the family want to talk with me 5. I listen to what other family members have to say, even when I disagree 6. Family members ask each other for help 7. Family members like to spend free time with each other 8. Family members feel very close to each other 9. We can easily think of things to do together as a family Family Cohesion ( $\alpha = .75$ ) 10. How often do you and your spouse or partner agree about how to discipline your children? 11. How often do you give up when you ask your children to do something and they don't do it? 12. Once a punishment has been decided, how often do you stick to it? 13. When you punish your children, how often does your mood influence the kind of punishment you use 14. How often do you accompany your children to activities? 15. How often do you attend an event or function put on or sponsored by your child's school? 16. How often do you and your children do things together that you both enjoy?

\* These reliability data are from reports provided to the authors by the state agency

## Results

In the pilot, family members attended an average of 5.94 (SD = 1.95) or 85% of 7 sessions and an average of 13.57 families were represented at each meeting (SD = 2.51). The mean values on the outcome scales before (pretest) and immediately after (posttest) the program are shown in Table 3, together with p-values, effect sizes (Cohen's d) and percentage relative improvement. The two groups were not different on any pretest scores. The control group improved slightly (non-significantly) on all 3 scores, but the PAFP group improved significantly more than the control group on all 3 scores.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> We did not have access to the raw data for the last group of parents, so we are unable to calculate and report reliability analyses for them. Instead, these data are taken from reports provided to the group providers by the state agency.



	Control		PAFP					
Measure	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	р	SD	ES	%RI
Family Conflict	2.55	2.36	2.57	2.17	0.038	0.59	-0.36	-8.2
Family Cohesion	2.88	3.06	2.89	3.27	0.090	0.58	0.34	6.9
Parent-Child bonding	5.30	5.30	5.02	5.58	0.038	0.88	0.59	9.9

 Table 3. Pretest and posttest mean scores by condition with effect sizes in pilot group (N=29)

Note: PAFP= *Positive Action* Family Program. For "Family Conflict", higher scores indicate more conflict. For "Family Cohesion" higher scores indicate more cohesion, and for "Parent-child Bonding" higher scores indicate better bonds. p values are all one-tailed. SD = Pooled standard deviation. ES = effect size = (postest diff - pretest diff)/pooled standard deviation. Interactions with pretest scores were significant for conflict and cohesion, indicating stronger effects for higher-risk families. %RI = % relative improvement = (postest diff - pretest diff)/pretest control

The effect sizes ranged from 0.34 to 0.59, and the percentage relative improvement from 6.9% to 9.9%. In all cases, the pretest scores were highly significant predictors of posttest scores, and interactions with pretest scores for cohesion indicated stronger program effects for higher risk families (F(1, 28) = 5.19, p = 0.016).

Only 6 of the wait-listed control group families from the pilot group enrolled in and completed the subsequent training (with others waiting until a subsequent round). Their posttest scores after their own training were all as good or better than the PAposttest scores reported above (2.06, 3.33 and 5.66, for family conflict, family cohesion and parent-child bonding, respectively) providing further validation of the effects in the randomized trial.

Data from subsequent, replication groups showed the same pattern of significant changes in mean scores for all 3 scales (see Table 4). Percent relative improvement across the three scales were higher than those found in the pilot randomized trial (8% to 17.2%), possibly reflecting the increased experience of the facilitators.

## Discussion

In the experimental pilot trial, the control group improved slightly (non-significantly), perhaps because of the expectations of needing to appear in court because of the adolescent's behavior. However, the PAFP group improved more and scored better than the control group at the posttest on all 3 scales. These differences were all statistically significant and, thus, suggest that the program improved family functioning for those families who received the PAFP more than they would have improved without the program. Participants in replication groups showed the same pattern of changes, with some improvements, thus replicating the initial findings and, perhaps, suggesting increased experience of the facilitators. Given that these families were courtmandated to attend the program and, thus, would have been highly motivated to improve (hence some improvement by control families), these results demonstrate that the PAFP can help high-risk families improve much more than they could improve without such a program.

The major limitations of this pilot randomized study plus subsequent pre-post only groups are 1) the small numbers of families involved in the randomized study and 2) the lack of long-term follow-up data. The waitlisted families were promised the program immediately after the posttest, so long-term follow-up of the controls was not attempted. Despite these shortcomings, this first randomized trial of the *Positive Action* Family Program provided results worthy of further follow-up. The replication of the findings, for both parents and youth, in subsequent pretest-posttest only evaluations provide further validation of the program effects.

The *Positive Action* program promotes, and has significant effects on, a broader range of adolescent behaviors than other preventive interventions, and speak to how the PAFP might have achieved the results that it did. These outcomes include academics [26, 30], risk or problem behaviors [25, 27, 28] and emotional health [32], which might make it more

appealing to high-risk families. Similar to other successful interventions, it targets attitudes, beliefs, self-concept, refusal skills and social skills [32, 38, 39]. In addition, it targets positive feelings, values, respect, empathy, kindness, fairness, and cooperation [33, 38]. The present study was a small early study in which we had limited time and resources for measurement. The purpose of the present study was to determine if the intervention looked promising before conducting larger studies which would include these outcomes. These characteristics provide a basis for friendship and avoiding problem behaviors (substance use, violence, etc.). Positive psychology research shows that these characteristics are directly linked to psychological adjustment and well-being or happiness [40, 41]. Because psychological maladjustment is associated with substance abuse and violence, increases in these positive characteristics may reduce maladjustment and have substantial preventive benefits Given [23]. that these universally characteristics are recognized as beneficial in American culture, parents understand them and are easily motivated to promote them. The present study suggests effectiveness of the PAFP. Future studies, including a larger-scale randomized controlled trial, should be conducted to replicate these results.

## Acknowledgements

We thank the designers of the evaluation survey, the 8th District Juvenile Court, the Uintah County School District, and the Northeastern Counseling Center for their work in running the family meetings and arranging data collection; and all of the participating families for their efforts.

## References

- Durlak JA, Weissberg RP, Dymnicki AB, Taylor RD, Schellinger KB. The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. Child Dev. 2011;82:405-32.
- 2. Greenberg MT, Weissberg RP, O' Brien M, Zins JE, Fredericks L, Resnik H, et al. Enhancing school-based prevention and youth development through coordinated



social, emotional, and academic learning. Am Psychol. 2003;58:466-74.

- Tobler NS, Roona MR, Ochshorn P, Marshall DG, Streke AV, Stackpole KM. School-Based Adolescent Drug Prevention Programs: 1998 Meta-Analysis. J Prim Prev. 2000;20(4):275-336.
- Foxcroft DR, Ireland D, Lister-Sharp DJ, Lowe G, Breen R. Longer-term primary prevention for alcohol misuse in young people: a systematic review. Addiction. 2003;98(4):397-411.
- Foxcroft DR, Tsertsvadze A. Universal alcohol misuse prevention programmes for children and adolescents: Cochrane systematic reviews. Perspect Public Health. 2012;132(3):128-34.
- Miller T, Hendrie D. Substance abuse prevention dollars and cents: A cost-benefit analysis. Center for Substance Abuse Prevention (CSAP), SAMHSA DHHS Pub. 2008(07-4298).
- 7. Kumpfer KL, Alvarado R. Family-strengthening approaches for the prevention of youth problem behaviors. Am Psychol. 2003;58(6-7):457.
- Small SA, Cooney SM, O'Connor C. Evidenceinformed program improvement: Using principles of effectiveness to enhance the quality and impact of family-based prevention programs. Fam Relat. 2009;58(1):1-13.
- 9. Kumpfer KL, Fowler MA, editors. Parenting skills and family support programs for drug-abusing mothers. Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine; 2007: Elsevier.
- Biglan A, Metzler CW. A public health perspective for research on family-focused interventions. Drug abuse prevention through family interventions NIDA Research Monograph. 1998;177:430-58. Rockville, MD: National Institute on Drug Abuse.
- 11. Brody GH, Murry VM, Chen Y-f, Kogan SM, Brown AC. Effects of family risk factors on dosage and efficacy of a family-centered preventive intervention for rural African Americans. Prev Sci. 2006;7(3):281-91.
- 12. Farrington DP, Welsh BC. 3 Family-based crime prevention. Evidence-based crime prevention. 2002:22.
- Patterson GR, Chamberlain P, Reid JB. A comparative evaluation of a parent-training program. Behav Ther. 1982;13(5):638-50.
- Sandler I, Schoenfelder E, Wolchik S, MacKinnon D. Long-term Impact of Prevention Programs to Promote Effective Parenting: Lasting Effects but Uncertain Processes. Annu Rev Psychol. 2011;62:299-329.
- Thomas R, Zimmer-Gembeck MJ. Behavioral outcomes of parent-child interaction therapy and Triple P— Positive Parenting Program: A review and metaanalysis. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 2007;35(3):475-95.
- 16. Baydar N, Reid MJ, Webster-Stratton C. The role of mental health factors and program engagement in the



effectiveness of a preventive parenting program for Head Start mothers. Child Dev. 2003:1433-53.

- Brown EC, Catalano RF, Fleming CB, Haggerty KP, Abbott RD. Adolescent substance use outcomes in the Raising Healthy Children project: a two-part latent growth curve analysis. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2005;73(4):699.
- Dishion TJ, Kavanagh K. Intervening in adolescent problem behavior: A family-centered approach: Guilford Press; 2003.
- Spoth R, Shin C, Guyll M, Redmond C, Azevedo K. Universality of Effects: An Examination of the Comparability of Long-Term Family Intervention Effects on Substance Use Across Risk-Related Subgroups. Prev Sci. 2006;7(2):209-24.
- Spoth R, Redmond C. Project Family prevention trials based in community–university partnerships: Toward scaled-up preventive interventions. Prev Sci. 2002;3(3):203-21.
- 21. Tolan PH, McKay MM. Preventing serious antisocial behavior in inner-city children: An empirically based family intervention program. Fam Relat. 1996:148-55.
- 22. Kumpfer K, Magalhães C, Xie J. Cultural Adaptation and Implementation of Family Evidence-Based Interventions with Diverse Populations. Prev Sci. 2016:1-11.
- 23. Fredrickson BL. Cultivating positive emotions to optimize health and well-being. Prev Treat. 2000;3(1):1a.
- 24. Fredrickson BL, Joiner T. Positive emotions trigger upward spirals toward emotional well-being. Psychol Sci. 2002;13(2):172-5.
- 25. Beets MW, Flay BR, Vuchinich S, Snyder FJ, Acock A, Li K-K, et al. Use of a social and character development program to prevent substance use, violent behaviors, and sexual activity among elementary-school students in Hawaii. Am J Public Health. 2009;99:1438-45.
- 26. Snyder FJ, Flay B, Vuchinich S, Acock A, Washburn I, Beets MW, et al. Impact of a social-emotional and character development program on school-level indicators of academic achievement, absenteeism, and disciplinary outcomes: A matched-pair, clusterrandomized, controlled trial. J Res Educ Eff. 2010;3:26-55.
- 27. Li K-K, Washburn I, DuBois DL, Vuchinich S, Ji P, Brechling V, et al. Effects of the Positive Action programme on problem behaviors in elementary school students: A matched-pair, randomized control trial in Chicago. Psychol Health. 2011;26(2):187-204.
- Lewis KM, Schure MB, Bavarian N, DuBois DL, Day J, Ji P, et al. Problem behavior and urban, low income youth: A randomized controlled trial of Positive Action in Chicago. American J Prev Med. 2013;44(6):622-30.
- 29. Lewis KM, Bavarian N, Snyder FJ, Acock A, Day J, DuBois DL, et al. Direct and mediated effects of a social-emotional and character development program on

adolescent substance use. Int J Emot Educ. 2012;4(1):56-78.

- Bavarian N, Lewis KM, DuBois DL, Acock A, Vuchinich S, Silverthorn N, et al. Using socialemotional and character development to improve academic outcomes: A matched-pair, clusterrandomized controlled trial in low-income, urban schools. J Sch Health. 2013;83:771-9.
- Bavarian N, Lewis KM, Acock A, DuBois DL, Yan Z, Vuchinich S, et al. Effects of a school-based social– emotional and character development program on health behaviors: A matched-pair, cluster-randomized controlled trial. J Prim Prev. 2016;37:87-105.
- 32. Lewis KM, DuBois DL, Bavarian N, Acock A, Silverthorn N, Day J, et al. Effects of Positive Action on the emotional health of urban youth: A clusterrandomized trial. J Adolesc Health. 2013.
- 33. Washburn I, Acock A, Vuchinich S, Snyder F, Li K-K, Ji P, et al. Effects of a social-emotional and character development program on the trajectory of behaviors associated with social-emotional and character development: findings from three randomized trials. Prev Sci. 2011;12(3):314-23.
- 34. Lewis KM, Vuchinich S, Ji P, DuBois D, Acock A, Bavarian N, et al. Effects of the Positive Action program on indicators of positive youth development among urban youth. Appl Dev Sci. 2015.
- 35. Snyder FJ, Vuchinich S, Acock A, Washburn IJ, Flay BR. Improving elementary school quality through the use of a social-emotional and character development program: A matched-pair, cluster-randomized, controlled trial in Hawai'i. J Sch Health. 2012;82(1):11-20.
- Schmitt SA, Flay BR, Lewis K. A pilot evaluation of the Positive Action prekindergarten lessons. Early Child Dev Care. 2014;184(12):1978-91.
- Knottnerus JA, Bouter LM. The ethics of sample size. J Clin Epidemiol. 2001;54(2):109-10.
- Lewis KM, Vuchinich S, Ji P, DuBois DL, Acock A, Bavarian N, et al. Effects of the Positive Action Program on Indicators of Positive Youth Development Among Urban Youth. Appl Dev Sci. 2016;20(1):16-28.
- 39. Silverthorn N, DuBois DL, Lewis KM, Reed A, Bavarian N, Day J, et al. Effects of a school-based social-emotional and character development program on self-esteem levels and processes: A cluster-randomized controlled trial. J Prim Prev. 2016;37(1):87-105.
- 40. Fredrickson BL, Losada MF. Positive affect and the complex dynamics of human flourishing. Am Psychol. 2005;60(7):678.
- 41. Seligman ME, Steen TA, Park N, Peterson C. Positive psychology progress: empirical validation of interventions. Am Psychol. 2005;60(5):410.